## IN THE SUPREME COURT OF MISSISSIPPI NO. 2009-CA-00971

KRISTI FULGHAM

**APPELLANT** 

vs.

STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

**APPELLEE** 

#### APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF OKTIBBEHA COUNTY

#### **BRIEF OF APPELLANT**

JAMES W. CRAIG, MB
R. GREGG MAYER, MB #
PHELPS DUNBAR LLP
111 East Capitol Street • Suite 600
Jackson, Mississippi 39201-2122
P. O. Box 23066
Jackson, Mississippi 39225-3066
Telephone: (601) 352-2300

Email: craigi@phelps.com mayerg@phelps.com

#### CERTIFICATE OF INTERESTED PARTIES

### STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES

- 1. Whether a person, acting on the advice of counsel, can knowingly and voluntarily plead guilty to a criminal statute that is unconstitutionally vague.
- 2. Whether an attorney who advises her client to plead guilty to an unconstitutionally vague criminal statute has provided ineffective assistance of counsel.

### STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Course of Proceedings and Statement of Facts. On July 25, 2005, Kristi Fulgham was indicted by the Oktibbeha County Grand Jury on two charges: (1) Count I - attempted escape and (2) Count II - furnishing an unauthorized device in violation of Miss. Code Ann. § 47-5-193. CP at 11. For Count II, Fulgham was indicted because she possessed a cell phone and charger. *Id*.

On January 24, 2006, Fulgham, on the advice of her attorney, pleaded guilty to both counts. CP at 12-19. On Count II, the Honorable James Kitchens sentenced Fulgham to eight (8) years to run consecutively with her four-year sentence for her conviction under Count I. *Id*.

On November 10, 2008, Fulgham timely filed a verified motion for post-conviction relief as to Count II. CP at 2-7. Fulgham argued that at the time of her plea Miss. Code Ann. § 47-5-193 was unconstitutionally vague, rendering the statute void. *Id.* Furthermore, Fulgham alleged she received ineffective assistance of counsel because her attorney advised Fulgham to plead guilty under the statute. *Id.* 

On May 7, 2009, the Oktibbeha County Circuit Court denied Fulgham's post-conviction relief. CP at 43. The Court held that the statute was not unconstitutionally vague, and, alternatively, Fulgham had waived her right to challenge the constitutionality of the statute. The Court did not consider Fulgham's claim of ineffective assistance of counsel.

#### SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

A person cannot knowingly and voluntarily plead guilty to an unconstitutionally vague criminal statute. In January 2006, Fulgham, acting on the advice of counsel, pleaded guilty to a violation of Miss. Code Ann. § 47-5-193. At that time, the statute prohibited the possession or furnishing of an "unauthorized electronic device." Fulgham had possessed a cell phone and charger.

Not long after Fulgham's conviction, a Mississippi court determined that the statute was unconstitutionally vague, particularly in light of a related statute that prohibited identical conduct but only as a misdemeanor. In addition, the Mississippi Legislature has since repeatedly amended § 47-5-193 — including to add "cell phone" as a separate prohibited item from "unauthorized electronic device", and later to add "chargers" — in an effort to remedy the unquestionable vagueness that previously rendered the statute void. Notwithstanding those subsequent amendments, the statute was unconstitutionally vague at the time Fulgham entered her plea. Because Fulgham could not knowingly plead guilty to an unconstitutionally vague statute, Fulgham's conviction must be vacated.

Furthermore, Fulgham pleaded guilty to the unconstitutional statute on the advice of her counsel. An attorney's advice to plead guilty to an unconstitutional statute is both ineffective assistance and highly prejudicial to the client. Fulgham was misled about the statute's validity. Furthermore, the trial court wholly failed

to consider Fulgham's ineffective assistance of counsel claim. As a result of ineffective assistance of counsel, Fulgham's conviction must be reversed.

#### **ARGUMENT**

A trial court may only accept a guilty plea if the plea is knowingly, voluntarily and intelligently entered. *See Bady v. State*, 995 So.2d 818 (Miss. Ct. App. 2008); *see also Carreiro v. State*, 5 So.3d 1170, 1172 (Miss. Ct. App. 2009). To offer a knowing plea, an individual cannot be "effectively misguided" or "misled" about the statute at issue. *See Bronson v. State*, 786 So.2d 1083, 1084 (Miss. 2001) (reversing conviction following guilty plea because attorney told client that minimum sentence was zero years, but in fact the statutory minimum was three years).

At the heart of this appeal is the unconstitutional vagueness of Miss. Code Ann. § 47-5-193. See Exhibit "A" in the Addendum to this Brief ("Addendum"). Under federal and state law, "a criminal statute is unconstitutional under the due process clause of the Fourteenth Amendment if it is so vague and uncertain that it does not inform those subject to it what acts it is their duty to avoid, or what conduct on their part will render them liable to its penalties." Nichols v. City of Gulfport, 589 So.2d 1280, 1282 (Miss. 1991) (citation omitted). "The law, of course, should give fair notice of offending conduct, or else the law is void for vagueness." Nichols, 589 So.2d at 1282.

As the U.S. Supreme Court has explained:

[T]he void-for-vagueness doctrine requires that a penal statute define the criminal offense with sufficient definiteness that ordinary people can understand what conduct is prohibited and in a manner that does not encourage arbitrary and discriminatory enforcement.

Where the legislature fails to provide such minimal guidelines, a criminal statute may permit a standardless sweep that allows policemen, prosecutors, and juries to pursue their personal predilections."

Kolender v. Lawson, 461 U.S. 352 (1983) (holding a California statute void that required a suspect to provide 'credible and reliable' identification when requested by a police officer who has made a Terry stop) (quotations omitted); see also Roberson v State 501 So.2d 398, 400 (Miss. 1987) (statute must "give a person of ordinary intelligence fair notice that his contemplated conduct is forbidden by Statute")(quoting United States v Harris, 347 U.S. 612 (1954)).

# I. Fulgham Could Not Plead Guilty To Unconstitutionally Vague Statute

In 2004, Miss. Code Ann. § 47-5-193 was amended to add the phrase "unauthorized electronic device." At that time, and still in 2006 when Fulgham was convicted under Miss. Code Ann. § 47-5-193, the statute provided:

# § 47-5-193. Furnishing or taking prohibited items

It is unlawful for any officer or employee of the department, of any county sheriff's department, of any private correctional facility in this state in which offenders are confined or for other person to possess, furnish, attempt to furnish, or assist in furnishing to any offender confined in this state any weapon, deadly

weapon, unauthorized electronic device or contraband item. It is unlawful for any person to take, attempt to take, or assist in taking any weapon, deadly weapon, unauthorized electronic device or contraband item on property belonging to the department which is occupied or used by offenders, except as authorized by law.

Miss. Code Ann. § 47-5-193 (as stated in January 2006) (emphasis added); see also General Laws of Mississippi 2004, Chap. 429, attached as Exhibit "B" in the Addendum. The statute fails to define "unauthorized electronic device."

Only a few months after Fulgham's conviction, the Circuit Court of Sunflower County concluded that the statute was unconstitutionally vague in violation of the due process clause. *State v. Poag, et.al*, Criminal No. 2006-0185, Sunflower County Circuit Court (Carey-McRay, J., October 17, 2006). CP at 19; RE 6. The Sunflower County Circuit Court noted that Miss. Code Ann. § 47-5-193 failed to give a person of ordinary intelligence fair notice that his conduct was prohibited by the statute, particularly light of the related Miss. Code Ann. § 47-5-192, which allowed the Commissioner of Corrections to also prohibit the possession of the same items, but under the latter statute the offense was only a

Miss. Code Ann. § 47-5-192, attached as Exhibit "C" to the Addendum, provides in relevant part:

<sup>(1)</sup> The Commissioner of Corrections may prohibit the possession by employees or officers of the Department of Corrections or any person allowed upon the premises of a correctional facility under his jurisdiction of any item, the possession of which by offenders is prohibited or regulated.

<sup>(4)</sup> Any person who violates a duly enacted rule authorized by this section shall be guilty of a misdemeanor and shall be punished by imprisonment for not more than one (1) year or by a fine of not more than One Thousand Dollars (\$1,000.00), or both.

misdemeanor. *Poag, supra*, at 1. The Sunflower County Circuit Court explained that Miss. Code Ann. § 45-7-193 "fails to define 'unauthorized electronic device' or to designate who has the authority to determine what type of electronic device is authorized or unauthorized." CP at 19; RE 6. As a result, the Circuit Court held the "unauthorized electronic device" provision was void.

Moreover, the Mississippi Legislature has amended the statute not once, but twice, since first incorporating "unauthorized electronic device" in 2004. First, effective in July 2006, only six months after Fulgham's conviction, the Legislature specifically added "cell phone" as a distinct and separate prohibited item from "unauthorized electronic device" under the statute. See General Laws of Mississippi, Chapter 439, attached as Exhibit "D" in the Addendum. This change alone establishes that the Legislature did not intend to cover - or failed to include cell phones at the time of Fulgham's conviction. Later, in 2008, the Legislature added "or any of its components or accessories to include, but not limited to, [SIM] cards, chargers, etc..." Miss. Code Ann. § 47-5-193. (emphasis added). See Exhibit "A" in the Addendum. The Legislature's repeated attempts clarify the statute demonstrate the statute's inherent, and unconstitutional, vagueness at the time Fulgham was convicted. It was impossible for Fulgham to have fair notice of the statute's prohibitions.<sup>2</sup>

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> Even during the plea colloquy on January, 24, 2006, the trial court hinted at the statute's vagueness:

An Ohio court has wrestled directly with this issue and concluded a previously offered guilty plea must be vacated in light of the determination that a statute is unconstitutionally vague. *State of Ohio v. Holycross*, 1980 WL 354919 (Ohio App. 8 Dist., July 10, 1980). In *Holycross*, the defendant had pleaded guilty to statute that prohibited "engaging in organized crime." *Holycross*, 1980 WL 354919 at \*1. Sometime after that plea, the Ohio statute was declared unconstitutional. In his post-conviction petition, the defendant sought to vacate his guilty plea, arguing that he could not plead guilty to an unconstitutional statute. The Ohio appellate court agreed:

Where a statute, to which an appellant has pleaded guilty, has subsequently been found to be unconstitutionally overbroad and vague, there has been a denial or infringement of rights as to render the judgment void or voidable under...the Constitution of the United States.

Id. at \*2.3 Nearly identical circumstances are present here. Fulgham, on the advice of counsel, pleaded guilty to Miss. Code Ann. § 47-5-193. Fulgham had been misled as to the constitutionality of the statute. The statute under which she was convicted was unconstitutionally vague. In 2006, the Legislature had failed to provide "minimal guidelines" for "unauthorized electronic device"; indeed, the

BY THE COURT: I've never had this unauthorized – providing an unauthorized, *I guess it amounts to devices or contraband* to an inmate: 47-5-193...

CP at 31 (emphasis added); RE 5 at 5.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> As illustrated in *Holycross*, an individual does not waive his or her right to challenge on post-conviction a guilty plea made to an unconstitutionally vague statute. The trial court's ruling that Fulgham waived her right to challenge whether her plea was knowing in light of the unconstitutional vagueness of Miss. Code Ann. § 47-5-193 was in error.

related statute giving the Commissioner of Corrections power to punish the exact same conduct, but only as a misdemeanor, left the door open for the Government to have a "standardless sweep that allow[ed] policemen, prosecutors, and juries to pursue their personal predilections." *Kolender*, 461 U.S. at 358.

Fulgham could not enter a knowing plea to the 2006 version of Miss. Code Ann. § 47-5-193. The statute itself was unconstitutional under both state and federal law. Absent a knowing plea, her conviction must be vacated.

# II. Ineffective Assistance Of Counsel Requires Reversal of Conviction

The trial court failed to even consider Fulgham's ineffective assistance of counsel claim in its Order denying post-conviction relief. CP at 41; RE 2. For this reason alone, the trial court's order must be reversed and remanded. Notwithstanding the trial court's omission, Fulgham's counsel undoubtedly provided ineffective assistance as it related to Fulgham's conviction under § 47-5-193.

"Mississippi has adopted the *Strickland v. Washington*, 466 U.S. 668 (1984) standard of review regarding claims of ineffective assistance of counsel." *Bronson v. State*, 786 So.2d 1083, 1084 (Miss. 2001). Under this standard:

The two inquiries which must be made under that standard are "(1) whether counsel's performance was deficient, and, if so, (2) whether the deficient performance was prejudicial to the defendant in the sense that our confidence in the correctness of the outcome is undermined.

Id. at 1085 (quotation omitted). "This standard applies to the entry of a guilty plea." Id; see also Hill v. Lockhart, 474 U.S. 52, 57 (1985) (the Strickland two-part standard applies "to ineffective-assistance claims arising out of the plea process").

In criminal cases in particular, *McMann v Richardson* 397 U.S. 759, 768-71 (1970) explains that the Court need not consider whether the advice at trial was correct or incorrect but rather instead, "on whether that advice was within the range of competence demanded of attorneys in criminal cases."

In *Bronson*, the attorney informed his client that if he pleaded guilty, then the client would probably receive a suspended sentence. *Id.* at 1085. The attorney had indicated that the minimum sentence under the statute was zero years. In fact, there was a statutory minimum of three years. The Court determined that the attorney has "effectively misguided" and misled the client about the statute at issue. *Bronson*, 786 So.2d at 1088. As a result, the Court granted post-conviction relief, reversing the guilty plea.

Here, Fulgham's counsel failed to inform Fulgham or the court of the statute's unconstitutionality. For example, at the plea colloquy, Fulgham's counsel said she knew of no reason Fulgham's plea should not be accepted.

BY THE COURT: Ms. Mallette, do you know of any reason why the Court should not accept Ms. Fulgham's guilty pleas in Count One and Count Two of this indictment?

BY MS. MALLETTE: No, Your Honor. CP at 35; RE 5 at 9.

As Fulgham explained in her verified Motion For Post-Conviction Relief, her attorney never advised her that the statute was unconstitutionally vague, or even of the possibility of that as a defense. *See* CP at 2-7; RE 7. At a minimum, the conflicting statutes of Miss. Code Ann. § 47-5-193 and § 47-5-192 (providing that the Commissioner of Corrections may also proscribe items, although only as misdemeanor) would have put an attorney on notice that the statute's constitutionality was suspect.

Fulgham's counsel's performance was deficient, and this deficiency highly prejudiced Fulgham in violation of both state and federal law. As a result of the ineffective assistance of counsel, Fulgham's conviction must be reversed.

#### **CONCLUSION**

Kristi Fulgham cannot be convicted under an unconstitutionally vague statute. As demonstrated by a Mississippi trial court, as well as by the Mississippi Legislature, Miss. Code Ann. 47-5-193 was unconstitutionally vague at the time Fulgham, on the advice of counsel, entered a guilty plea. Because the statute is unconstitutional, her plea could not be knowingly and voluntarily entered. Her conviction must be vacated.

Moreover, Fulgham's counsel provided ineffective assistance by advising Fulgham to plead guilty to an unconstitutionally vague statute. Fulgham's attorney's advice was deficient and undeniably prejudicial. As a result, Fulgham's plea must be vacated. Importantly, the trial court failed to even consider Fulgham's ineffective assistance of counsel claim. For this reason alone, if her conviction is not vacated, then Fulgham's post-conviction motion must be sent back to the trial court for consideration of the ineffective assistance of counsel claim.