IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

KRISTI FULGHAM

APPELLANT

VS.

NO. 2009-CP-0971

STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

APPELLEE

BRIEF FOR THE APPELLEE

APPELLEE DOES NOT REQUEST ORAL ARGUMENT

JIM HOOD, ATTORNEY GENERAL

BY: BILLY L. GORE

SPECIAL ASSISTANT ATTORNEY GENERAL

MISSISSIPPI BAR NO

OFFICE OF THE ATTORNEY GENERAL POST OFFICE BOX 220 JACKSON, MS 39205-0220 TELEPHONE: (601) 359-3680

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

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

Fulgham has failed to establish by a preponderance of the evidence she was entitled to any relief resulting from her conviction via an allegedly involuntary guilty plea.

Fulgham's voluntary plea of guilty operated to waive or surrender her right to challenge the constitutionality of §47-5-193 on the ground it was void for vagueness.

This is because a valid plea of guilty operates as a waiver of all non-jurisdictional rights or defects which are incident to trial as well as all defects or insufficiencies in an indictment. **Jefferson v. State**, 556 So.2d 1016, 1019 (Miss. 1989); **Anderson v. State**, 577 So.2d 390, 391 (Miss. 1991).

Included in this class of waivable rights are "those [rights] secured by the Fifth, Sixth and Fourteenth Amendments to the Constitution of the United States, as well as those comparable rights secured by Sections 14 and 26, Article 3, of the Mississippi Constitution of 1890." **Anderson v. State,** 577 So.2d 390, 391 (Miss. 1991).

If at the time of Fulgham's plea of guilty, §47-5-193 was unconstitutionally vague, it was a

non-jurisdictional insufficiency and was waived by Fulgham's voluntary plea of guilty. See Colburn v. State, 431 So.2d 1111 (Miss. 1983), which held that a constitutional attack on the ground the aggravated assault statute was void-for-vagueness was never raised in the trial court. Therefore, it could not be raised for the first time on direct appeal because only matters of jurisdiction may be raised for the first time on appeal. The lesson gleaned from Colburn is that even if the aggravated assault statute had been unconstitutionally vague it was a non-jurisdictional insufficiency. A valid guilty plea waived all that.

Assuming, on the other hand there was no waiver and that the statute in question is unconstitutionally vague on its face, it was not unconstitutional as applied to Fulgham who has yet to complain she did not know what conduct was unlawful.

Next, we note that at no place in her motion for post-conviction collateral relief does Fulgham specifically assail the constitutionality of §47-5-193 on the ground it was void-for-vagueness, i.e., that she was a person of ordinary intelligence with no reasonable opportunity to know what was prohibited and, in fact, did not know her conduct was unlawful.

Rather, her complaint at the trial level assailing the performance of her lawyer and application of the statute in question appears to be *ex post facto* in nature. "I suffered [i]naffective [sic] assistance of counsel as Miss.Code Ann. [§]47-5-193 was legislatively amended to include cell phones *after* I entered my plea." (C.P. at 3) [emphasis supplied]

Fulgham asserted in her motion for post-conviction relief that her sentence violated Due Process because the facts she admitted did not constitute a crime. Due Process claims are waivable by a plea of guilty. **Smith v. State,** 806 So.2d 1148 (Ct.App.Miss. 2002).

If, in fact, vagueness was not raised in Fulgham's motion for post-conviction relief, the point should be barred from consideration on direct appeal even though Judge Kitchens addressed the

matter.

In any event, Judge Kitchens was eminently correct in finding that the statute was not unconstitutionally vague and that Fulgham waived her right to question the integrity of the statute when she entered a plea of guilty.

Finally, would it not be logical to conclude that if Fulgham voluntarily plead guilty to furnishing another inmate with an unauthorized cell phone and cell phone charger, the statute declaring this activity unlawful was not vague to her.

ARGUMENT

FULGHAM WAIVED HER RIGHT TO ASSAIL THE CONSTITUTIONALITY OF THE STATUTE COMPLAINED ABOUT WHEN SHE ENTERED HER VOLUNTARY PLEA OF GUILTY.

DEFENSE COUNSEL'S REPRESENTATION WAS NEITHER DEFICIENT NOR DID ANY DEFICIENCY PREJUDICE THE DEFENDANT. RATHER, COUNSEL'S ADVICE WAS WELL WITHIN THE RANGE OF COMPETENCE DEMANDED OF ATTORNEYS IN CRIMINAL CASES.

Kristi Fulgham contends that "[b]ecause [she] could not knowingly plead guilty to an unconstitutionally vague statute, [her] conviction must be vacated. (Brief of Appellant at 3)

She also contends "[a]n attorney's advice to plead guilty to an unconstitutional statute is both ineffective assistance and highly prejudicial to the client." (Brief of Appellant at 3)

Several observations are made initially.

First, Miss.Code Ann. §99-39-5 (1)(c) and (f) of the Mississippi Uniform Post-Conviction Collateral Relief Act read as follows:

(1) Any prisoner in custody under sentence of a court of record of the state of Mississippi who claims:

* * * * *

© That the statute under which the conviction and/or sentence was obtained is unconstitutional;

* * * * * *

(f) That his plea was made involuntarily;

* * * * * *

... may file a motion to vacate, set aside or correct the judgment or sentence, . . .

Second, Ms Fulgham has filed a motion for post-conviction collateral relief assailing the integrity of her guilty plea. On direct appeal to this Court from summary denial by the trial court, Fulgham alleges for the first time that Miss.Code Ann. §47-5-193, at the time of her indictment and guilty plea, was void for vagueness.

Third, the vagueness complaint was never succinctly raised in the court below. Although Judge Kitchens ruled the statute was not "unconstitutionally vague," close scrutiny of Ms Fulgham's pro se motion for post-conviction relief reflects unequivocally she never specifically claimed the statute was void-for-vagueness. (C.P. at 2-7) Rather, Fulgham alleged she was denied Due Process of law because the facts she admitted to did not constitute a crime for which she could be convicted. (C.P. at 3)

Judge Kitchens did not find the statute unconstitutionally vague at the time of Fulgham's indictment and guilty plea. Fulgham, we submit, never specifically claimed that it was, i.e., she never pinpointed the issue in the court below that she seeks to pinpoint on appeal. In this posture, her "void for vagueness" argument should be rejected for this reason alone.

The failure to raise the issue before the trial court in her motion for post-conviction relief

should bar this issue from appellate review. **Foster v. State**, 716 So.2d 538, 540 (Miss.1998), citing **Berdin v. State**, 648 So.2d 73, 80 (Miss. 1994) ["Because Foster did not raise this issue in his petition for post-conviction relief, its consideration is precluded on appeal."]

Issues and claims raised for the first time in Fulgham's appellate brief, cannot be considered by a reviewing court on direct appeal. Fulgham is procedurally barred from raising them in the present context. Foster v. State, supra, 716 So.2d 538, 540 (Miss. 1998), citing Berdin v. State, supra, 648 So.2d 73, 80 (Miss. 1994); Bell v. State, No. 2007-CP-01857-COA (¶¶ 10, 11, 12, 13) decided February 3, 2009; Davis v. State, No. 2007-CP-00264-COA (¶4) decided June 17, 2008; Wallace v. State, No. 2007-CP-00766-COA (¶27) decided May 27, 2008, and the decisions of the Supreme Court cited therein.

In **Berdin v. State**, *supra*, 648 So.2d 73, 80 (Miss. 1994), we find the following language addressing the posture of Fulgham's complaint:

Both Berdin and the State raised issues under assignment number II that are procedurally barred. Berdin never raised this issue at the hearing as error for post-conviction relief. It is assigned as error for the first time in her brief. An assignment of error may not be raised for the first time on appeal. *Collins v. State*, 594 So.2d 29, 35 (Miss. 1992). Therefore, this issue is not properly before the court. [emphasis ours]

Same here. See also Cross v. State, 964 So.2d 535, 538 (Ct.App.Miss. 2007) [Issue of depression as a factor for involuntary guilty plea "procedurally barred" because presented for the first time on appeal]; Foster v. State, supra, 716 So.2d 538, 540 (Miss. 1998) citing Berdin v. State, supra. [Because voluntariness of guilty plea was not raised in petition for post-conviction relief, "... its consideration is precluded on appeal."]

As noted previously, we are aware the trial judge addressed the issue when he ruled that §47-

5-193 was not "unconstitutionally vague" on the ground that "... at the time [Fulgham] was indicted [the statute] did not include the exact name of the electronic device that she possessed."

(C.P. at 41)

No matter.

Fulgham did not specifically raise this issue. If this is true, the void-for-vagueness issue should be barred from appellate review.

The Waiver Doctrine Attaches to Non-Jurisdictional Defects.

In addition to all this, Ms Fulgham's plea of guilty waived any non-jurisdictional defects or deficiencies in her indictment as well as all rights or defects incident to trial when she entered a voluntary guilty plea.

Putting aside for the moment appellee's position that "vagueness" was not the ground relied upon in Fulgham's motion filed in the trial court, the fact remains that Fulgham plead guilty to the offense charged.

A defendant is allowed to waive many important rights. **Bishop v. State,** 812 So.2d 934 (Miss. 2002), reh denied, cert denied. Lest we forget, "[a] plea of guilty constitutes a waiver of some of the most basic rights of free Americans, those secured by the Fifth, Sixth and Fourteenth Amendments to the Constitution of the United States, as well as those comparable rights secured by Sections 14 and 26, Article 3, of the Mississippi Constitution of 1890." **Sanders v. State,** 440 So.2d 278, 283 (Miss. 1983). The waiver doctrine extends to Fourth Amendment rights as well. **Burns v. State,** 984 So.2d 1024 (Ct.App.Miss. 2008), reh den. *See also* **Bishop v. State,** 812 So.2d 934, 945 (Miss. 2002) for a list of valuable rights waived.

It is well settled that by entering a guilty plea, a defendant waives all non-jurisdictional defects in the proceedings below. **Reeder v. State**, 783 So.2d 711 (Miss. 2001).

The trial judge got it right when he did "... not find that the statute was unconstitutionally vague and ... that the Petitioner waived her right to question the statute when she pled guilty to the offense." (C.P. at 41; appellee's exhibit <u>A</u>, attached.)

In Jefferson v. State, supra, 556 So.2d 1016, 1019 (Miss. 1989), this Court opined:

We are concerned here with the legal effect of Jefferson's two 1981 guilty pleas. The institution of the guilty plea is well established in our criminal justice process. A guilty plea operates to waive the defendant's privilege against self-incrimination/2, the right to confront and cross-examine the prosecution's witnesses/3, the right to a jury trial/4 and the right that the prosecution prove each element of the offense beyond a reasonable doubt./5

Outside the constitutional realm, the law is settled that with only two exceptions, the entry of a knowing and voluntary guilty plea waives all other defects or insufficiencies in the indictment. [citations omitted] A defendant's right to claim that he is not the person named in the indictment may be waived if not timely asserted. Anselmo v. State, 312 So.2d 712 (Miss. 1975). The principle exception to the general rule is that the failure of the indictment to charge a criminal offense or, more specifically, to charge an essential element of a criminal offense, is not waived. See Durr v. State, 446 So.2d 1016, 1017 (Miss. 1984); Maxie v. State, 330 So.2d 277, 278 (Miss. 1976). And, of course, a guilty plea does not waive subject matter jurisdiction. [Text of notes 2-5 omitted; emphasis supplied]]

We find in **Anderson v. State**, *supra*, 577 So.2d 390, 391 (Miss. 1991), the following language also applicable to Ewing's complaint:

Moreover, we have recognized that a valid guilty plea operates as a waiver of all non-jurisdictional rights or defects which are incident to trial. Ellzey v. State, 196 So.2d 889, 892 (Miss. 1967). We have generally included in this class "those [rights] secured by the Fifth, Sixth and Fourteenth Amendments to the Constitution of the United States, as well as those comparable rights secured by Sections 14 and 26, Article 3, of the Mississippi Constitution of 1890." Sanders v. State, 440 So.2d 278, 283 (Miss. 1983); see also Jefferson v. State, 556 So.2d 1016, 1019 (Miss. 1989). We take this opportunity to specifically include in that class

of waivable or forfeitable rights the right to a speedy trial, whether of constitutional or statutory origin.

This view is in accord with that of our sister states. [citations omitted]

This rule also prevails in the federal arena. [citations omitted; emphasis ours]

Stated differently, Kristi Fulgham's voluntary plea of guilty to furnishing to an inmate an unauthorized electronic device in the form of a cell phone and cell phone charger waived and forfeited all rights and non-jurisdictional defects incident to trial, including the right to assail non-jurisdictional defects found in an indictment or information. **Drennan v. State**, 695 So.2d 581 (Miss. 1997); **Luckett v. State**, 582 So.2d 428 (Miss. 1991); **Anderson v. State**, *supra*, 577 So.2d 390 (Miss. 1991).

Because Fulgham entered a voluntary plea of guilty, she also waived any defenses she might have had to the charge. **Bishop v. State**, 812 So.2d 934, 945 (Miss. 2002); **Taylor v. State**, 766 So.2d 830, 835 (Miss. 2000).

The Carey-McCray Ruling is not Persuasive.

On October 17, 2006, nine (9) months after Fulgham entered her plea(s) of guilty on January 24, 2006, Margaret Carey-McCray, a Circuit Judge in Sunflower County, issued an order in an unrelated case finding as a fact and concluding as a matter of law that §47-5-193 "... violated the due process clause of the United States Constitution because of vagueness in that 'it fails to give a person of ordinary intelligence fair notice that his contemplated conduct is forbidden by the statute.'

" (C.P. at 19)

Fulgham's awareness and reliance upon the conclusion reached by the learned circuit judge

nine (9) months after Fulgham's guilty plea is commendable. Nevertheless, we respectfully submit Judge Carey-McCray's decision is not persuasive because it is not the law of the land.

At the time of Fulgham's plea of guilty, and even to this day, no appellate court in Mississippi, the Supreme Court in particular, has declared the statute in question unconstitutional. At best we have a one to one split among the learned circuit judges in this state. Judge Carey-McCray finds the statute unconstitutionally vague while Judge Kitchens does not.

"[A]ll presumptions and intendments should be indulged in favor of the validity of a statute, and its unconstitutionality should appear beyond a reasonable doubt before it will be held invalid." **Peterson v. State,** 268 So.2d 335, 337 (Miss. 1973).

The Decision of the Ohio Court of Appeals is Distinguishable.

Fulgham's reliance upon a 1980 decision from an Ohio intermediate court, while interesting, is, in the parlance of the day, misplaced. The facts there reflect that William Holycross entered a plea of guilty to an indictment charging him with "one count of engaging in organized crime." The lower court denied post-conviction relief by concluding the statute was constitutional.

Hollycross appealed to the Ohio Court of Appeals who reversed and vacated Hollycross's conviction of engaging in organized crime. The distinguishing feature is embodied in the following language from the Court's unpublished opinion:

In his amended petition for post-conviction relief, appellant raised, *inter alia*, the issue of the unconstitutionality of R.C. 2923.04, the organized crime statute. The issue was also argued by counsel during the hearing. In making its ruling, the trial court reviewed all of the current case law on the constitutionality of R.C. 2923.04, and concluded that the statute was constitutional.

Subsequent to that ruling, this court decided the case of *State v. Forbes* (August 9, 1979), No. 40897, unreported. This court in

Forbes affirmed the decision of the trial court that R. C. 2923.04 was unconstitutionally overbroad and vague and affirmed the trial court's dismissal of the indictment relating to R.C. 2923.04. The ruling in Forbes was affirmed by the Supreme Court of Ohio in State v. Young (1980), 62 Ohio St.2d 370, 406 N.E.2d 499, and is controlling here.

Needless to say, but we say it nevertheless, the unconstitutionality of the Ohio statute was upheld by Ohio's highest court. That did not occur here where our appellate Courts have never addressed the issue.

The distinction here is that Judge Carey-McCray's ruling in the circuit court of Sunflower County does not carry the same weight as that carried by the Supreme Court of the State of Mississippi.

In the case at bar, there has been no declaration by the Supreme Court or, for that matter, by the Court of Appeals, that at the time of Fulgham's indictment and guilty plea Miss. Code Ann. §47-5-193 was unconstitutional on the grounds of vagueness, overbreath, or on any other grounds.

The Subsequent Amendments to §47-5-193 are Immaterial.

Fulgham points out that since her plea of guilty to the crimes charged, §47-5-193 has twice been amended, first to include the addition of "cell phone" as a separate prohibited "unauthorized electronic device" and later to add the word "chargers" as an unauthorized item. Fulgham suggests this is an indication the Legislature recognized the constitutional shortcoming of the statute in its original form and sought to cure the defect. (Brief of Appellant at 3, 7-8)

Far from acknowledging the vagueness of the statute as originally written, the amendments could have just as well been added to bolster the Legislature's original intent to make more certain that which was already certain.

The Misdemeanor Feature of §47-5-192 is not Favorable to Fulgham.

Miss.CodeAnn. §47-5-192 authorizes the Commissioner of Corrections to enact rules prohibiting the possession by employees, officers or *any person allowed upon the premises* of a correctional facility, of any item, the possession of which by offenders is prohibited or regulated. A violation of this statute is punished as a misdemeanor.

It is obvious to us the "any person" found in 47-5-192 applies to visitors and not to incarcerated offenders who can be charged with a felony for the same conduct under §47-5-193. Incarcerated offenders would naturally be treated more harshly than other violators.

The Advice Given by Defense Counsel was not Deficient.

We concur with Fulgham that Judge Kitchens did not address directly Fulgham's claim that because her lawyer gave Fulgham either misleading advice or no advice, counsel was ineffective in the constitutional sense. (Brief of Appellant at 10-11)

A finding that trial counsel was neither ineffective nor deficient for failing to advise Fulgham of the possible unconstitutionality of the statute in question is implicit, is it not, in Judge Kitchens's finding that §47-5-193 was not unconstitutionally vague.

In **Lewis v. State**, 798 So.2d 635, 636 (¶5) (Ct.App.Miss. 2001), we find the following language:

The sub-issue of whether Lewis's post-conviction relief petition failed to allege facts sufficient to justify an evidentiary hearing is a question of law, and the ultimate issue of whether the trial court properly denied the relief requested in the petition, where the allegation was ineffective assistance of counsel, is perhaps a question of both law and fact, requiring partial *de novo* review.

To prove ineffective assistance of counsel, the defendant must show that counsel's

performance was deficient and this deficiency prejudiced her defense. Liddell v. State, 7 So.3d 217, 219 (¶6) (Miss. 2009) quoting Strickland v. Washington, 466 U.S. 668, 687, 104 S.Ct. 2052, 80 L.Ed.2d 674 (1984).

The rule regarding ineffective assistance of counsel within the context of a guilty plea is that "when a convicted defendant challenges his guilty plea on the ground of ineffective assistance of counsel, he must show unprofessional errors of substantial gravity. Beyond that, he must show that those errors proximately resulted in his guilty plea and that but for counsel's errors he would not have entered the plea." Elliott v. State, No. 2008-CA-00948-COA (¶21) decided November 3, 2009 [Not Yet Reported], citing Buck v. State, 838 So.2d 256, 260 (¶12) (Miss. 2003)(quoting Reynolds v. State, 521 So.2d 914, 918 (Miss. 1988).

Ms Fulgham has failed to do so here.

During her plea-qualification hearing Kristi Fulgham told Judge Kitchens she was pleading guilty "[b]ecause I know that's in my best interest because I'm guilty." (C.P. at 33) While this admission may have the aroma of a so-called *Alford* plea, Fulgham has never once proclaimed her innocence.

The selection of a defense falls within the amorphous zone of trial and litigation strategy. Whether or not advice that it's in one's best interest to plead guilty should be no different. We invite the attention of the Court to the penalty authorized by statute and the penalty actually recommended by the prosecutor and accepted and imposed by the circuit judge. (C.P. at 31-32, 35, 36-37)

"[T]here is a presumption that decisions made are strategic." Leatherwood v. State, 473 So.2d 964, 969 (Miss. 1985). There is also a strong, yet rebuttable, presumption that counsel's conduct falls within the wide range of reasonable professional assistance. Frierson v. State, 606

So.2d 604, 608 (Miss. 1992). These presumptions have not been overcome here.

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